IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and DESOTO IMAGING & DIAGNOSTICS, LLC

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2007-SA-00035

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-DESOTO, INC., d/b/a BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-DESOTO and DESOTO DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING, LLC, d/b/a CARVEL IMAGING

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DIVISION

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

OF COUNSEL:

Thomas L. Kirkland, Jr. (MSB # Allison C. Simpson (MSB Andy Lowry (MSB # Andy Lowry

COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A.

Post Office Box 6020

Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158

Telephone: 601.856.7200 Facsimile: 601.856.8242

Counsel for DeSoto Imaging & Diagnostics,

LLC

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the Department had substantial evidence on which to base its approval of DeSoto's original route.
- II. Whether the Department acted contrary to law in approving DeSoto's new application when it became necessary to substitute a new route after the hearing but before the CON issued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Course of Proceedings Below

On September 8, 2005, DeSoto Imaging & Diagnostics, LLC ("DeSoto") filed its Certificate of Need ("CON") application with the Mississippi State Department of Health (the "Department") for the provision of mobile magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") services in DeSoto County. The application was deemed complete by the Department on October 7, 2005.

In November 2005, the Department's Division of Health Planning and Resource Development rendered its staff analysis recommending disapproval of DeSoto's application. R.E. 3 (Staff Analysis). On December 5, 2005, the present Appellees, Baptist Memorial Hospital-DeSoto, Inc. ("Baptist") and DeSoto Diagnostic Imaging, LLC, d/b/a Carvel Imaging ("Carvel"), as well as DeSoto, requested a hearing during the course of review. This hearing began on March 22, 2006, and concluded on March 24, 2006.

On July 6, 2006, the hearing officer submitted his proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law to the State Health Officer, disagreeing with the staff analysis and recommending approval of the application, based on the evidence and testimony from all parties at the hearing. R.E. 4 (opinion of hearing officer & cover letter).

Baptist and Carvel filed a joint motion on July 24, 2006 (R.E. 5), seeking to reopen and supplement the record and to obtain the hearing officer's reconsideration of the record in light of alleged new evidence. DeSoto opposed the joint motion (R.E. 6; see also R.E. 8, rebuttal by Appellees). The Department filed its own motion on the subject. R.E. 7. The hearing officer conducted a new hearing on August 11, 2006, to hear the motion and consider his authority to do so. R.E. 9 (complete transcript). On August 17, 2006, he issued his findings and conclusions on the motion, wherein he accepted jurisdiction over the motion but denied it on the merits. R.E. 10

(opinion denying motion). The hearing officer expressly stated that he would forward the pleadings, hearing transcript, and opinion on the motion to the State Health Officer for consideration and inclusion in the record. R.E. 10 at 6.

On August 31, 2006, the State Health Officer, after considering the record, issued his Final Order, concurring with and adopting the hearing officer's findings and recommendations as his own and issuing the CON. R.E. 11.

Feeling aggrieved by the State Health Officer's decision, Baptist and Carvel filed their joint notice of appeal in the Hinds Chancery Court, First Judicial Division, on September 19, 2006. In its Opinion and Order of December 29, 2006, the chancery court reversed the Final Order of the State Health Officer, but stayed its decision pending the outcome of any appeal to this Court. R.E. 2.

The present appeal is from the December 29, 2006 order of the chancery court.

II. Relevant Facts

A. The Need Criterion and the Application

This is a case about DeSoto's application for a CON to offer mobile MRI services at its facility in DeSoto County, Mississippi. Unlike a fixed MRI, which is permanently installed at a single location, a mobile MRI is hauled from place to place via tractor-trailer. To obtain a CON for MRI services (fixed or mobile), a provider must show need under the applicable criterion of the State Health Plan, to wit:

Need Criterion: The entity desiring to offer MRI services must document that the equipment shall perform a minimum of 1,700 procedures per year. The applicant shall use the procedures estimation methodology appearing in this section

¹Carvel nonetheless moved to enjoin the continued operation of the MRI unit by DeSoto, but this motion was denied by the chancery court on May 2, 2007, which recognized that it lacked further jurisdiction over the matter, as DeSoto and the Department had timely filed their Notice of Appeal to this Court on January 3, 2007. R.E. 12.

of the Plan to project the annual patient service volume for the applicant hospital. This criterion includes both fixed and mobile MRI equipment.

Applicants for non-hospital based MRI facilities may submit affidavits from referring physicians in lieu of the estimation methodology required for hospitals [sic] based facilities. MRI procedures projected in affidavits shall be based on actual MRI procedures referred during the year.

It is recognized that a particular MRI unit may be utilized by more than one provider of MRI services; some of which may be located outside of Mississippi. In such cases all existing or proposed providers of MRI services must jointly meet the required service volume of 1,700 procedures annually. If the MRI unit in question is presently utilized by other providers of MRI services, the actual number of procedures performed by them during the most recent 12-month period may be used instead of the formula projections.

(emphasis altered). The last paragraph, addressing how "a particular MRI unit may be utilized by more than one provider of MRI services," has particular application to a mobile MRI.

DeSoto submitted a CON application after consultation with the mobile MRI's owner, Alliance Imaging ("Alliance"), on a route that would include DeSoto, Gilmore Memorial Hospital ("Gilmore") in Amory, and Mission Primary Care Clinic ("Mission") in Vicksburg. R.E. 4 at 3-4. The application stated that, because DeSoto already had a facility and because the MRI was owned by Alliance, no capital costs were needed, only operational costs. R.E. 4 at 5.

B. The Staff Analysis and the Hearing Officer's Recommendations

CON applications follow a three-step process: first, the application is submitted to the Department's staff for their analysis; second, if the application or the staff analysis is opposed, a hearing during the course of review is conducted at which evidence outside the application may be submitted; and third, the State Health Officer makes the final decision as to whether to award the CON, in which he may accept or reject the recommendations of the staff and of the hearing officer.

The staff analysis recommended disapproval of the CON application, on the alleged grounds of insufficient need and financial viability. R.E. 4 at 6-7. However, the staff did not apply the 1,700-procedure minimum of the State Health Plan's need criterion in determining need, but rather applied

an "optimum" of 2,000 to 2,500 procedures per year to the MRI units already operating as well as to the proposed unit. R.E. 4 at 7. As for financial viability, the staff based its analysis not on any financial shortfall in DeSoto's projected revenues, but rather on the alleged adverse impact that DeSoto's project would have upon rival MRI providers, namely the present Appellees, Baptist and Carvel. R.E. 4 at 7.

At the hearing, where Baptist and Carvel challenged the application, the hearing officer heard testimony from a dozen witnesses and considered twenty-four exhibits. R.E. 4 at 6. Based on that evidence, the hearing officer disagreed with the staff analysis, and he recommended approval of the CON for DeSoto. He noted that the need criterion in question was 1,700 procedures *per route* per year, and that the two providers whose route DeSoto would join, between them, had themselves accounted for 2,034 procedures in 2005. R.E. 4 at 12. Moreover, DeSoto had presented affidavits from eight local physicians estimating that they would refer 336 patients to DeSoto, on the basis of which it projected 520 procedures in its first year due to population growth and there being many more physicians than eight in DeSoto County. R.E. 4 at 13. Thus, with or without the additional procedures contributed by DeSoto, the hearing officer found substantial evidence that at least the 1,700 procedures required by the State Health Plan would be performed by the three providers. In fact, he found that experts for both sides agreed that the number of procedures in DeSoto County would meet the *optimum* range set by the staff, even though that optimum was in no way controlling as to the applicable need criterion. R.E. 4 at 13-15.

The hearing officer also rejected the Appellees' challenge to the nature of the mobile route that DeSoto would join. Although they argued that the route in question would alter the number of days at which MRI services would be offered at Gilmore and Mission, the hearing officer found credible the testimony of Alliance's officer Gordon Smith, who testified that revisions to MRI routes

are common in the industry and that the proposed route would afford Gilmore and Mission sufficient access to a mobile MRI unit while also including DeSoto. R.E. 4 at 15-17.

The hearing officer rejected the staff's analysis of financial viability, finding "no specific evidence from either Baptist-DeSoto or Carvel Imaging that they will suffer any sort of adverse impact, financial or otherwise, from the approval of this Application." R.E. 4 at 26.

On June 30, 2006, the hearing officer transmitted to the State Health Officer his recommendation that the CON be issued to DeSoto. Seeing which way the wind was blowing, the Appellees returned in a mere three weeks with a joint motion to reopen the record, Gilmore having *just so happened* to terminate its arrangement with Alliance on July 14, two weeks after the hearing officer's opinion came out. It is undisputed that this change was in no way caused by DeSoto. The Appellees asked the hearing officer to reconsider whether DeSoto's project would meet the 1,700 minimum procedures for a mobile route, and to reject the application. They did *not* ask for a new hearing in which evidence could be presented by both sides. R.E. 5 at 3-4.

DeSoto responded to the joint motion by providing the sworn affidavit of Alliance's officer, Cindy Smith, who attested (in accordance with the hearing officer's previous findings) that "[i]n the mobile MRI industry it is common for mobile MRI routes to be altered and/or for contracts for mobile MRI services to be amended or be cancelled"; that Alliance would simply place DeSoto on a different route with two other providers who were presently performing 2,323 procedures a year (over 600 more than the 1,700 minimum); and that it would be easy to accommodate DeSoto "as the MRI unit currently sits idle two days a week." R.E. 6 at 5-6; see Ex. A to R.E. 6 (affidavit). The

²The fact that Alliance's new route includes Tennessee providers is of no moment, as the MRI need criterion in the State Health Plan (quoted above at 3-4) expressly "recognize[s] that a particular MRI unit may be utilized by more than one provider of MRI services; some of which may be located outside of Mississippi."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The chancery court impermissibly reweighed the evidence as to the original route proposed in the CON application and at the hearing. The hearing officer found that the evidence was not overwhelming in either direction, but made a deliberative and informed choice to find that substantial evidence supported the original route. Substantial evidence was indeed presented at the hearing that the more powerful 1.5T unit would allow the existing providers to offer the same number of procedures in fewer days, and a reasonable person could have found for DeSoto on the basis of that evidence. The chancery court's fact-finding should be reversed.

As for the issue of the new route, the Department is the best arbiter of how to interpret both its own regulations and the statutes which it is empowered to fulfill. The Department made a considered recommendation, based on its knowledge of the healthcare field and the nature of mobile MRI services, that an unforeseen change in the providers on the route *after* the application is filed — indeed, after the *hearing* in the matter — should not require the applicant to start over from scratch, given that such changes routinely occur and that they do not require a new CON when they happen after the CON is issued. The chancery court improperly second-guessed the Department's expertise and the requirements of the CON laws, and should be reversed on that basis as well.

Thus, the Department's decision was based on substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This case, like every CON case, must be decided by a standard of review which favors affirming the Department's decision. Insofar as this appeal concerns questions of law, those ordinarily are reviewed de novo by the courts. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(f); Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp., 743 So. 2d 973, 976 (Miss. 1999).

However, the courts extend "great deference to the agency's interpretation of its own rules and statutes which govern its operation." *Elec. Data Sys. Corp. v. Miss. Div. of Medicaid*, 853 So. 2d 1192, 1202 (Miss. 2003). Just such interpretations are at issue in the present case. "Notwithstanding this Court's ordinarily de novo review of questions of law, this Court has 'accepted an obligation of deference to agency interpretation and practice in areas of administration by law committed to their responsibility." *Buelow v. Glidewell*, 757 So. 2d 216, 219 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Gill v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conserv.*, 574 So. 2d 586, 593 (Miss. 1990)).

More generally, the Department's decision likewise "is afforded great deference upon judicial review." St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 728 So. 2d 81, 83 (Miss. 1998) (quoting Miss. Dep't of Health v. S.W. Miss. Reg'l. Hosp., 580 So. 2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 1991)). This "great deference" creates a presumption in favor of the Department's decision. Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr., 663 So. 2d 563, 579 (Miss. 1995). It is the challenging party's burden to establish that the Department's conduct is arbitrary and capricious. Jackson HMA, Inc. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 822 So. 2d 968, 970 (Miss. 2002). A decision which is "fairly debatable" as to its correctness is not arbitrary and capricious. Falco Lime, Inc. v. Mayor & Aldermen of City of Vicksburg, 836 So. 2d 711, 721 (Miss. 2002).

The courts may not substitute their judgment for that of the Department. *Melody Manor Convalescent Ctr. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 546 So. 2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989). Nor may a court reviewing an administrative agency's decision engage in reweighing the facts of the case. *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Ross*, 829 So. 2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 2002). "Therefore, if the evidence is there, the decision stands even though the Chancellor or this Court might have made a different decision." *United Cement Co. v. Safe Air for the Envir., Inc.*, 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990). The Department's decision need only have relied upon "substantial" evidence, i.e., "more than a scintilla or a suspicion." *Natchez Cmty.*, 743 So. 2d at 977. It need only be "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds *might* accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014, 1017 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added).

The Department, as finder of fact, is free to choose between two conflicting positions, each of which is supported by substantial, credible evidence. *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.*, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224-25 (Miss. 1997). Findings of credibility are for the Department, not for the appellate courts, to make, where substantial evidence appears in the record. *Boyles v. Miss. State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 794 So. 2d 149, 156-57 (Miss. 2001).

I. THE ORIGINAL ROUTE WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

As we saw in the Relevant Facts, one of the two grounds for the chancery court's reversal of the CON award was the supposed lack of substantial evidence for the DeSoto-Gilmore-Mission route. That finding by the chancery court simply reweighed the evidence. In fact, looking at the hearing officer's findings (which were adopted by the State Health Officer) and at the record, this Court can readily determine that evidence for the proposed route was more than the "mere scintilla" upon which an agency's decision can be reversed. At most, Baptist and Carvel showed that there was substantial evidence to support a finding either way, and that showing will not suffice to reverse

the Department's decision. Where substantial evidence supports the Department's ruling, that ruling may not be reversed merely because there is also substantial evidence to the contrary. It is for the Department, not the courts, to evaluate and weigh the evidence, and when the chancery court reweighs the evidence, it must be reversed.

Testimony at the hearing demonstrated that the providers on the proposed route DeSoto would join are already performing over the required 1,700 procedures annually. Gordon Smith, Area Sales Manager with Alliance, testified that DeSoto would join a route served by a 1.5T magnet, on with two other providers, Gilmore and Mission, who had performed 2,034 procedures in 2005. R.E. 14 at 240-41. This route therefore was already performing well above the 1,700 required procedures without even counting the added procedures projected by DeSoto. R.E. 14 at 244-46.

Alliance had already obtained a declaratory ruling from the Department concerning the proposed route which included the DeSoto location. R.E. 14 at 244-46; Ex. 13. This declaratory ruling gave Alliance the Department's permission to provide the services at the DeSoto location as soon as DeSoto obtained CON approval to offer MRI services. R.E. 14 at 244-47; Ex. 13. Thus, the Department had independently examined the proposed route apart from DeSoto's application.

We ask this Court to note that the State Health Plan's need criterion for MRI services (quoted under the Relevant Facts, above) does not say *anything* about a "route." The word does not even appear in the criterion. Whether or not the route was an *existing* route at the time of the application, therefore, is not relevant.

Rather, the State Health Plan requires only that a mobile MRI application show that "all existing or proposed providers ... jointly meet the required service volume of 1,700 procedures annually" (emphasis added). Thus, the fact that the existing providers total over 1,700 procedures, eliminates any requirement that the proposed provider make *any* showing, for purposes of the need

criterion. (Of course, one would still have to show financial feasibility; and as we will see, a mobile MRI unit's owner wishes to maximize the number of scans performed. But strictly insofar as the *need criterion* is concerned, the 1,700 procedures are what must be shown.)

Although Carvel argued exactly the contrary in its brief to the chancery court (at 9), that argument disregards the disjunctive "or" in the need criterion. If "historical performance of the route before the new location" were "meaningless," as Carvel asserted, then why would the need criterion in the Plan say this:

If the MRI unit in question is presently utilized by other providers of MRI services, the actual number of procedures performed by them during the most recent twelve month period may be used instead of the formula projections.

(emphasis added)? Carvel quoted *that very language* at page 9 of its brief, and then went on a paragraph later to say "historical performance of the route before the new location is meaningless."

In any event, DeSoto did indeed make a showing that it would add procedures to the route. The Department had that proof before it when considering the arguments by Appellees that the existing route would have to change in order to include DeSoto, since the existing providers were already using the equipment "five or six days a week" (Baptist chancery brief at 8). This is an example of how the Appellees sought to defeat each element of the Department's decision in isolation, without regarding the elements together as a whole; but this Court must consider the entire record. The Department could reasonably find that, even if there were to be any diminution in services at Gilmore or Mission, those would be compensated for by the additional services which DeSoto would bring to the route.

To the extent that the chancery court's reasoning can be comprehended, it took exception to the proposal that Gilmore and Mission might accept having the MRI unit for fewer days of the week. However, there is no requirement in the need criterion, or anywhere else, that other providers on a

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