IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and DESOTO IMAGING & DIAGNOSTICS, LLC

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2007-SA-00035

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-DESOTO, INC. and DESOTO DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING, LLC, d/b/a CARVEL IMAGING

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE DESOTO DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING, LLC

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

i

1

i.

ĺ

Kathryn R. Gilchrist, MSB David W. Donnell, MSB ADAMS and REESE LLP Post Office Box 24297 Jackson, Mississippi 39255-4297 Telephone: (601) 353-3234 Facsimile: (601) 355-9708 Counsel for Desoto Diagnostic Imaging, LLC d/b/a Carvel Imaging

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

IV. ARGUMENT

ſ

 \overline{c}

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Unquestionably, the law of this State has established a presumption in favor of the decisions of an administrative agency. Indeed, as the appellant has stated repeatedly, a court may alter a decision of the Department only if it is convinced the decision is arbitrary, capricious, or unreasonable, or is not supported by substantial evidence. Where a decision <u>is</u> arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, or not supported by substantial evidence, however, the appellate courts must overturn the Department's action. *Mississippi State Department of Health v. Natchez Community Hospital*, 743 So. 2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999) (it is within the power of the appellate court to reverse where the department's decision is not supported by substantial evidence) (citing *Mississippi Real Estate Commission v. Anding*, 732 So. 2d 192, 196 (Miss. 1999)); *St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital v. Mississippi State Department of Health*, 728 So. 2d 81, 83 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Mississippi State Department of Health v. Southwest*

Ż

Mississippi Regional Medical Center, 580 So. 2d 1238, 1239 (Miss. 1991). As this Court stated, "by way of contrast, where an administrative agency errs as a matter of law, courts of competent jurisdiction should not hesitate to intervene." *Grant Center Hospital of Mississippi, Inc. v. Health Group of Jackson, Mississippi, Inc.*, 528 So. 2d 804, 808 (Miss. 1988). Indeed, where the Department's decision has been "repugnant" to the express provisions of the *SHP* or the CON Review Manual, neither the Chancellor nor this Supreme Court has deferred to the agency. *See Grant Center*, 528 So. 2d at 808 (citing *Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Dyer Investment Co., Inc.*, 507 So. 2d 1287, 1289 (Miss. 1987); Universal Manufacturing Corp. v. Brady, 320 So. 2d 784, 786 (Miss. 1975)).

1

,

Ł

í

i

Here, as the Chancellor rightly concluded, the Department's decision was, in some respects, arbitrary and capricious, and was entirely contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Specifically, as is set forth in detail in the following pages, the evidence presented at the Hearing demonstrated that DeSoto Imaging failed to satisfy the requirements of the *SHP* or the CON Review Manual. In particular, no substantial evidence was presented in support of any showing of need or economic viability of the proposed project. Instead, the evidence presented made it clear that the project will not perform the required number of procedures and that there is no objective need for additional MRI services in Desoto County. The Hearing Officer erred in recommending approval of the Application in the face of the Applicant's inability to satisfy its burden of proof on these issues. In addition, the Hearing Officer committed further reversible error in his handling of evidence presented by the opponents post-hearing.

The applicable standard of review requires deference to the Department – but only to a point. The Department crossed the line in this matter. Its decision was repugnant to the evidence and the applicable regulations. The Chancellor made the right decision and her decision must be affirmed.

B. THE APPLICATION DID NOT SATISFY THE NEED REQUIREMENT

1. The Staff Analysis Was Correct

Immediately following submission of the Application, the Department's Staff performed its routine review of the Application and issued its Staff Analysis concluding that the Application failed to satisfy either the need requirement in the *SHP* or that in the CON Review Manual. Because there was no need for additional service, the Staff also concluded that adverse impact would result to existing service providers if the Application were granted. The Staff recommended disapproval of the Application.

At the Hearing, DeSoto Imaging challenged the Staff's Analysis of its Application on several grounds. Primarily, DeSoto Imaging contended that in looking at the utilization of all other providers in the General Hospital Service Area, the Staff applied a methodology inconsistent with its previous review of applications for MRI service and equipment and that the Staff focused too strongly on the Department's stated optimal performance levels of 2,000 to 2,500 procedures per year for an MRI machine and treated that optimal performance level as a requirement for approval.

Contrary to DeSoto Imaging's arguments, it was entirely appropriate for the Staff to consider the utilization levels of all other service providers in the Service Area in order to determine compliance with General Review Criterion 5 (Need), as well as the *SHP*'s goal of avoiding any unnecessary duplication of service. In fact, General Review Criterion 5 requires the Department to evaluate every application in terms of the <u>existing utilization levels</u>. R.E. 1 at 101-02. Mr. Dawkins, testifying for the Department, confirmed this fact when he stated that "any proposed addition of capacity in a particular Service Area should be evaluated based on its impact on other similar facilities in that area." R.E. 1 at 104. The Staff did nothing inappropriate

ġ

in considering the area-wide utilization in its review of this Application. Indeed, it could not correctly have evaluated the Application without that consideration.

Secondly, the Staff was also correct to consider existing utilization in the context of the Department's stated optimal utilization level of 2,000 to 2,500 procedures. Contrary to the position taken by DeSoto Imaging, evidence at the Hearing made clear that the Staff did not treat the optimal performance level as a requirement for the approval of this Application. Rather, it was just one of the factors that the Staff considered in its review of the Application.

Finally, as to the Staff's Analysis of DeSoto Imaging's Application, it is important to note that the Staff Analysis is always a preliminary document, prepared without the benefit of evidence submitted subsequently to a hearing officer. As a result, it is frequently the case that Staff Analyses do not contain <u>all</u> of the detailed bases for either the approval or disapproval of an Application which may become evident later in the case. The Staff's Analysis tends to become the object of significant attack when it should not be.⁴ Here, there are numerous reasons why the Hearing Officer's decision to approve this Application was wrong. And for those reasons – some of which were identified by the Staff, and some of which were not, but all of which are supported by the record from the Hearing – the Chancellor's decision to disapprove the Application must be affirmed.

2. The Proposed Route – and Thus the Proposed MRI Unit – Will Not Perform 1,700 Procedures per Year

Specific Criterion 1 in the *SHP* requires that an applicant for MRI service demonstrate that the requested service will perform at least 1,700 procedures annually. That need criterion states as follows:

ì

È

⁴ Importantly, DeSoto Imaging argues in its brief that the Staff was wrong. (Appellant's Brf. at 4-5). However, neither the Hearing Officer nor the Chancellor relied to any degree on the Staff's Analysis. The Staff was correct. But even if it had not been, it would be of no import at this level of appeal.

Need Criterion: The entity desiring to offer MRI services must document that the equipment shall perform a minimum of 1,700 procedures per year. The applicant shall use the procedures estimation methodology appearing in this section of the *Plan* to project the annual patient service volume for the applicant hospital. This criterion includes both fixed and mobile MRI equipment.

Applicants for non-hospital based MRI facilities may submit affidavits from referring physicians in lieu of the estimation methodology required for hospital based facilities. MRI procedures projected in affidavits shall be based on actual MRI procedures referred during the year.

It is recognized that a particular MRI unit may be utilized by more than one provider of MRI services; some of which may be located outside of Mississippi. In such cases all existing or proposed providers of MRI services must jointly meet the required service volume of 1,700 procedures annually. If the MRI unit in question is presently utilized by other providers of MRI services, the actual number of procedures performed by them during the most recent twelve month period may be used instead of the formula projections.

[R. Vol. 2 (SHP at XI-47, Hrg. Ex. 4)].

÷

1

É

ł

As the Hearing Officer duly noted, where, as here, the application is for mobile service, it is permitted by the Department for the applicant to demonstrate simply that the MRI unit to be utilized for the proposed new service location is already performing at least 1,700 procedures on the route which the applicant will join if the Application is approved. [R. Vol. 2 (*SHP* at XI-47, Hrg. Ex. 4)]. The applicant must, however, demonstrate that the new route – the route which will include the proposed new location – will satisfy this standard going forward. Historical performance of the route before the addition of the new location is meaningless.⁵

DeSoto Imaging asserted in its Application that it would join an "existing route" which already satisfied the 1,700 procedures requirement – i.e. an established route which was already performing in excess of the required 1,700 procedures annually with facilities which would remain part of the route along with DeSoto Imaging. In addition, the Applicant projected in the

⁵ This is undisputably true in every case <u>unless</u> the old route will remain completely unchanged and will merely add the new location to its existing members. In that case, the Department considers historical performance plus procedures to be performed at the new location. Regardless of the Applicant's certified statements to the contrary, however, the route proposed here is not the same as it was before the new location was added.

Application that its proposed service (in Southaven) would perform 520 procedures the first year, 650 procedures the second year, and 780 procedures the third year of its operation. [R. Vol. 2 (CON App. at 10, Hrg. Ex. 2)]. The Hearing Officer took these representations as accurate and relied on them as the basis of his findings. He erred in doing so. Evidence presented at the Hearing established without question that neither of these assertions was true, and as a result, the Application did not satisfy the need requirement. The entire basis of the Hearing Officer's recommendation (and thus of the State Health Officer's concurrence) is fallacious. The Chancellor concluded that the Hearing Officer's decision was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Where that is the case, the presumption in favor of the Department ceases to have effect. The Chancellor made the only decision supported by substantial evidence. Her decision must be affirmed.

a. The Proposed Mobile Route Does Not Currently Exist and Cannot Be Established as Proposed

Although the Applicant repeatedly referred to its intent to join an <u>existing</u> mobile route, evidence presented at the Hearing established without question that the route the Applicant proposed to "join" did not actually exist at the time of the Application or the Hearing, but instead <u>would be established</u> as a route if and when this Application was approved. In fact, the other providers who the Applicant stated would purportedly share the proposed route with DeSoto Imaging were, at the time of the Hearing, actually being served on <u>separate routes</u>, by at least <u>three different MRI units</u>. Furthermore, evidence at the Hearing established that to establish the proposed route as the Applicant certified that it would <u>was</u> and <u>is</u> a practical impossibility – the proposed route <u>cannot</u> be established as proposed.

£

÷

ì

i

In the Application (filed in September 2005), DeSoto Imaging stated that it would become "a part of <u>an already existing and established route</u> through a contractual agreement with Alliance Imaging, Inc," that "[t]he proposed mobile MRI unit is a 1.5 Tesla unit that currently <u>serves Gilmore Memorial Hospital</u> ... and <u>Mission Primary Care Clinic</u> ... on a mobile route," that "DeSoto Imaging will simply join this <u>existing route</u>," and that the so-called existing route was "<u>already performing over 1,700 procedures annually</u>, 1,440 procedures at Gilmore in 2004 and 562 procedures at Mission in 2004." [R. Vol. 2 (CON App. at 2, 6, 8, Hrg. Ex. 2)(emphasis added)].

The Applicant misrepresented (or was misinformed about) the situation. Testimony presented by the Applicant at the Hearing from Gordon Smith, Area Sales Manager for Alliance Imaging, established that there was no current or previously existing mobile route serving both Gilmore and Mission Primary. Instead, those two facilities were being serviced on separate routes by different machines. R.E. 1 at 251. What's more, given the undisputed specifics concerning the service required by those two facilities, the proposed route (serving Gilmore, Mission Primary, and DeSoto Imaging with the same unit) could not be established going forward. This conclusion was inescapable due simply to the numbers of days required by the three proposed route members. At Hearing time, Gilmore was being serviced from four to fourand-a-half days a week. R.E. 1 at 248. None of those days was a Saturday.⁶ R.E. 1 at 250. Mission Primary, the other member of the allegedly "existing" mobile route, received service from another MRI unit two days a week. R.E. 1 at 255. As with Gilmore, Mission Primary's days were both weekdays. R.E. 1 at 255. The conclusion is obvious: there can be no route established which can serve Gilmore four weekdays a week, Mission Primary two weekdays a week and DeSoto Imaging two weekdays a week. There are only five weekdays to work with, and to put these three providers on a route together would require eight weekdays. Even if service were to be provided on Saturdays, or even seven days a week, the proposed route could

⁶ Smith confirmed that at the time of the Hearing, Gilmore was receiving service from Alliance on Mondays, Tuesdays, half of every Wednesday, and Fridays. Mission Primary was receiving service from a different MRI unit on Tuesdays and Thursdays. R.E. at 271.

not be established and permit Gilmore and Mission Primary to maintain their then current number of days of service.

The Applicant attempted to address this failure in its Application by eliciting testimony from Mr. Smith to the effect that Alliance would fit DeSoto Imaging into the proposed route by requiring Gilmore and Mission Primary to accept a reduced number of days of service on a weekly basis. Mr. Smith testified further that, in order to fit DeSoto Imaging in, it would require Gilmore to accept Saturdays as one of its reduced days of service. R.E. 1 at 258-62. The end result, according to Alliance, would be a route that would serve DeSoto Imaging two weekdays, Mission Primary one weekday, and Gilmore two weekdays and Saturdays. R.E. 1 at 241.

On cross-examination, however, the entire route was shown to be completely uncertain (as the Hearing Officer recognized). Smith admitted not only that Gilmore (an acute care hospital) has <u>never</u> accepted Saturdays as one of its main days of service from Alliance, but, even more importantly, that there was no existing contract for service with Gilmore and that Gilmore had not indicated a willingness to enter into a contract that would reduce its number of days OR include Saturdays as one of the reduced number of days.⁷ R.E. 1 at 258-62. According to Smith, Alliance and Gilmore were, at Hearing time, renegotiating the contract for MRI service at Gilmore and Alliance was continuing to provide four-day-a-week service to Gilmore on a month-to-month basis pending the completion of that renegotiation process. R.E. 1 at 270. Smith could provide no assurance of the Hearing Officer, however, that any agreeable resolution would be reached with Gilmore, and the Applicant presented no testimony from any Gilmore representative. As a result, the very <u>existence</u> of a contract for service between Alliance and

i

÷

i

Ê

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